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Mission:

the WOomen’s
Initiatives for Gender
Justice works globally to
ensur'ejus tice for women
and communities affected by

armed conflict and an
independent and effective

International Criminal
Court (1co).
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2016 at a glance...

This year we worked directly with over 14,000 grassroots organisations, decision-
makers, faith leaders, victims/survivors of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV),
justice stakeholders, women abducted by militia groups, clan leaders, family members
and communities affected by armed conflicts. We also worked with seven domestic
courts in Uganda and the DRC as well as the ICC on the prosecution of conflict-related
sexual and gender-based crimes and the participation of women in the justice system.

Looking more closely, during 2016 we:

e Interviewed over 615 victims of conflict-related sexual violence and other grave
crimes. We then utilized this data in cases before domestic courts, as well as in
advocacy with provincial authorities, prosecutors and judges, calling for more
access to justice, and better medical and livelihood assistance for victims of these
crimes.

e Assisted 955 victims of conflict-related sexual and gender-based violence to
access medical and psychosocial services.

o Advocated for meaningful reparations for former child soldiers at the first public
hearing held by the ICC on reparations. We were the only international women'’s
rights organisation granted leave by the judges to provide a presentation at the
hearing.

e Held 136 community outreach sessions involving 5,517 participants in two
conflict-affected provinces in eastern DRC with a focus on reducing stigma for
victims of SGBV and informing communities about the services available for
victims of these crimes.

e Hosted gender justice documentary screenings for 5,268 participants in conflict-
affected provinces including remote villages and areas of high sexual violence
prevalence.

e Conducted seven training and capacity building workshops in eastern DRC for 189
participants including provincial and local policy-makers and political leaders,
military prosecutors, judges, the police, and civil society groups.
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e Consulted local partners and SGBV victims/survivors about meaningful
reparations, victim expectations, and safety and security concerns relevant to
accessing court-ordered reparations before the ICC.

e Monitored seven domestic courts in Uganda and eastern DRC working with 35
court officials on 13 SGBV cases providing support to and advocacy on behalf of
the victims of these crimes.

e Consulted over 100 provincial and national leaders in the DRC including, civil and
military judges and prosecutors, police officers, lawyers, and civil society
advocates in South Kivu, on the barriers to investigating and prosecuting sexual
and gender-based crimes as war crimes and crimes against humanity before
domestic courts.

e Involved over 400 cultural leaders, clan elders, family members, women formerly
abducted by the Lord’s Resistance Army (LRA) and their children born of war in
family reunification, reconciliation and reintegration activities in northern Uganda.

e Monitored 10 situations under investigation by the ICC from a gender perspective
and monitored all of the cases in which sexual and gender-based crimes have
been charged.

e Advocated with 35 ICC staff and officials on gender justice issues and provided
policy briefings and information for over 400 delegates and representatives of
states parties.

34,395 3,000+ 150,000 21,827

Website Twitter eLetter Facebook

Views Followers Readers Likes
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Where we work

Key
.owomc_es

- Programme Activity

~ Legal Monitoring
& advocacy
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Values Statement

The Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice is dedicated to achieving gender equality,
women’s human rights and international justice. We are working to ensure justice for
women and communities affected by armed conflict through an independent and
effective International Criminal Court and promote use of the Rome Statute to advance
women’s rights.

Our shared values help us to achieve this. These values include:

Human Rights - We will work towards the full application of the rights enshrined in the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention for the Elimination of all forms of
Discrimination against Women, other international human rights and humanitarian law.
We will actively challenge any fundamentalisms that threaten these rights. Human rights
are indivisible, inter-related and universal and as such we will work towards the
eradication of all discrimination based on gender, sexuality, religion, race, age, ability,
ethnicity, nationality, class or other factors.

Justice and Peace - We strive towards a world free from violence against women and an
end to war and conflicts. We work towards a world based on principles of justice,
interdependence, equality, solidarity and respect. We promote the rule of law and
international legal standards to ensure accountability for perpetrators and the end to all
forms of violence, discrimination and oppression.

Self Determination - We stand in solidarity with those dispossessed of their land,
livelihood, language and cultural identity and support gender equality within movements
towards self-determination. We also promote a woman’s right to determine and choose
her relationships, sexuality, identities, goals and dreams.

Diversity - We will work together as feminists and gender justice advocates, respecting
and learning from each other's diverse backgrounds, beliefs, abilities and experiences.
Openness to diversity is integral to advancing women's rights and creating just and
equitable societies.

Responsibility - We will strive for fairness and respect in our relations, responsible and
effective use of our resources, transparency in our processes, accountability, integrity and
excellence in all our work.

These values guide our work with the International Criminal Court, in the field, our
collaborations and partnerships, within the organisation, and as actors in the
international movements of advocates for women’s human rights and gender justice.
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Documentation

Documenting  conflict-related
sexual and gender-based
violence {(SGBV) is one of our
long standing and most effective
collaborative programmes.

The purpose of the
documentation programme is
to: interview victims/survivors
of conflict-related SGBV;
provide psychosocial assistance,
legal and medical referrals to
victims/survivors; and utilise the
documentation data to advocate for the investigation and prosecution of these crimes
before local courts and the ICC, as well as for better access to medical and psychosocial
support. -~ y
‘Please, we would like our voice to

go very far considering the carnage,

be the mouth of the voice-less and

of poor farmers.’

The team on its way to document SGBV incidents- South Kivu

During 2016, our partners in three conflict-
affected provinces of eastern DRC (South Kivu,
North Kivu and Province Orientale) conducted
12 documentation missions, interviewing 431
victims/survivors of SGBV and witnesses of Witness to the Beni massacre, North
these crimes. Kivu, September 2016

Two of the 12 documentation missions, " ﬂj
conducted by partners, Encadrement des Femmes Indigénes et des Ménages Vulnérables
(EFIM) and Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise (LSC), were undertaken in response to a
massacre which occurred in and around Beni, North Kivu, in August 2016. The
responsibility for the attacks was attributed to the ADF, an armed group allegedly of
Ugandan origin which has been present in the DRC for more than two decades and has
been accused of multiple human rights violations. Both missions involved community
consultations and interviews with over 200 witnesses and victims/survivors of the attack.
Our documentation team noted the trauma experienced by the local communities, the
tense security situation and the perceived lack of response by the security forces, as
amongst some of the biggest challenges in the immediate aftermath of the massacre.
Because our methodology is based on long-term partnerships with local organisations and
advocates, we are able to mobilise quickly and
our teams are often amongst the first
responders to the commission of mass violence.

‘You are the first organisation that
has come to share with us after the

massacres, and only two weeks Consistent with our established practices, all of
have passed. Thank you, this the documentation activities during 2016 were
relieves us.’ undertaken in compliance with our protocol
Witness to the Beni massacre, which mcludes; a pre;)mlsljlon se;jcur'lty
North Kivu, August 2016 assessment; regular contact by the team during

the mission; a pre-prepared response plan in
the eventuality of threats or an attack; reliable
transportation available to the team and a pre-screened driver; funds in-hand to ensure
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the ability to rapidly depart from threats; and a list of key local contacts to mobilise a
response on the ground, should this be needed.

Our partners also interviewed 184 SGBV victims/survivors
who accessed the Transit House Project and wanted their
incidents of rape to be documented. In total, over the
course of the year, our teams documented interviews with
615 individuals who were victims of SGBV and other grave
crimes.

In analysing the data, we were able to identify that the
majority of the perpetrators of the attacks documented
during 2016 were allegedly committed by: the Democratic
Forces for the Liberation of Rwanda (FDLR); the Armed
Forces of Democratic Republic of the Congo (FARDC); Mai _
Mai militias; the Allied Democratic Forces (ADF); the SGBV Interviewee
Burundian National Forces of Liberation (NFL); and the

Imbonerakure (Burundian electoral militia). The presence of the two Burundian armed
groups in South Kivu, which have not previously appeared in our documentation data,
seems to be directly linked to the unrest and conflict in neighbouring Burundi during
2016. Given the porous borders between the DRC, Burundi, Rwanda and Uganda, armed
militias are able to readily move within and between these highly militarised areas.
Consistent with documentation missions over the past three years, during 2016 the
programme documented attacks allegedly committed by the Lord’s Resistance Army
(LRA) within areas of Province Orientale.

According to our analysis of the documentation during this period, most incidents of
sexual violence occurred in the context of:

e Attacks by armed groups directed against the civilian population (sometimes with
the primary aim being to pillage food and other goods from the villages);

e (Clashes between the DRC Army and armed groups that also result in attacks
against civilians;

e Attacks by civilians against Burundian refugees in camps for Internally Displaced
Persons; and

e Women being attacked while gathering firewood and carrying out other gender-
related tasks.

In South Kivu, our partner, Initiatives Alpha, documented the abduction of girls between
two and ten years of age who were taken from their homes, raped, mutilated and left in
the village the following day, allegedly by accomplices of the FDLR militia group.
According to the families and witnesses, they believe the children were taken for the
purpose of child organ trafficking.
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Use and Impact of Documentation Data

The documentation data is utilised to advocate for the opening of investigations and
prosecutions before domestic courts, as well as in meetings with local political leaders to
advocate for the provision of more medical, psychosocial services and livelihood support
for SGBV victims/survivors.

Our documentation material has also been

‘Documentation missions area | successfully utilised in advocacy with the ICC to
good opportunity to bring victims bring the Court’s attention to the commission
out of isolation. Victims of sexual violence within their investigations. To
encountered during the date, the documentation material has been
documentation mission in Dakwa incorporated within two of the ICC's cases in
did not hesitate to share their joy. relation to the DRC, including the current case
One victim said: “I did not know against Bosco Ntaganda, specifically in support
that someone could be interested of the charges of rape and sexual slavery
in us who suffer in a forgotten committed against children recruited and
environment.”’ enlisted into his militia group.
Claudine Bela Badeaza, WI Focal During 2016, our partners in North and South
Point, Director of CERDF, Province Kivu utilised documentation data in advocacy
Orientale meetings with local authorities, traditional and
\ ) community leaders, as well as police from the

affected areas.
Below are some examples of the use and impact of these advocacy initiatives.

e Following a documentation mission and advocacy with local leaders in the conflict-
affected territory of Mwenga, South Kivu, our partner, Initiatives Alpha, supported
leaders from different villages to establish a network in response to conflict-
related SGBV. All of the villages in the area had experienced attacks allegedly by
the FDLR militia group. During the attacks, militia combatants pillaged food and
other goods essential to the survival of the villagers. The combatants also killed
residents and raped women. In an effort to prevent further attacks, the village
leaders collected food and other supplies such as spare batteries, soap, gas and
clothing, and deposited these items in locations for the FDLR combatants to
collect. They sent word to the combatants about the availability of the supplies.
Following this initiative, there was a notable decrease in militia attacks on the
villages and fewer incidents of rape and murder.

e In North Kivu, our partner Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise (LSC) utilised the
SGBV documentation data in meetings between women’s rights organisations and
government officials in the conflict-affected territory of Rutshuru. They advocated
for the government to apply greater security measures for the civilian population
who are regularly attacked by a number of different armed militia groups in this
area.

e In South Kivu, partner, Action des Femmes pour les Droits et le développement
(AFD), used documentation data in meetings with traditional and community
leaders, the police, prosecutors and judges to highlight the prevalence of SGBV
and to work with the authorities to develop more effective Eleﬁhlc)a}

and
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reintegration responses for the victims, as well as the pursuit of prosecutions for
these crimes through domestic courts.

Following the Beni documentation missions, our partners and other NGOs produced a
statement including a critique of the UN Peacekeeping mission in eastern DRC. The
statement provided recommendations regarding MONUSCO’s mandate and role. Utilising
the grassroots-international bridge we have created, we engaged our bilateral
relationship with the UK Government to ensure that the DRC statement was shared with
them ahead of the Peacekeeping Conference they hosted in London in 2016. This is just
one of the ways in which we create opportunities for local advocates to have access to
international decision-makers and multi-lateral policy-making spaces.

Our methodology is to bridge the advocacy gap, create opportunities for
grassroots organisations and magnify their voices in global policy, decision-
making and justice fora.

In addition to advocacy efforts, our partners also utilised the documentation data to:
monitor the prosecution of sexual and gender-based crimes and provide advice on legal
representation to victims/survivors before domestic courts; and inform community
leaders about the commission of SGBV in their areas with the view to engaging them in
support for victims and holding perpetrators accountable.

According to our partners, documentation missions continue to give victims/survivors an
opportunity and platform to express themselves, and many have found the courage to
report the incidents and seek medical assistance.

Transit House Project

During 2016, the Transit House Project, a collaboration with partners, Action des Femmes
pour les Droits et le développement (AFD) and Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise (LSC),
operated in two remote locations with high levels of conflict-related SGBV - Kabondozi,
South Kivu, and Rutshuru, North Kivu. The project provides psycho-social assessments,
referrals and assistance to victims/survivors of conflict-related (and other) SGBV to access
local health centres and general
hospitals for more specialised
treatment, including surgeries for
rape-related injuries. The project
provides two residential Transit
House facilities for SGBY
victims/survivors to stay in while
awaiting surgery and during their
recovery  post-surgery, before
returning home. The project also
provides transportation for
victims/survivors to and from

Transit House - Rutshuru hospital.
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‘Why can’t members of families, as
well as our neighbours, show a bit
of compassion towards us? Have
they stopped for a moment to put
themselves in our place and try to
understand the pain that we face
instead of accusing us of being an
accomplice to our own suffering?’

Transit House Project Participant,
South Kivu

In 2016, the Transit House Project assisted 955
SGBV victims/survivors to access psycho-social
and medical support, of whom 80% were
referred to either a hospital or local health
centre for further treatment. Almost half of
those assisted were subsequently referred to a
hospital for specialised treatment, most
commonly for reparative surgeries for rape-
related injuries.

The project is available to all members of the
community both men and women, and for all
ages with baby girls between 1-2 years old and

elderly women supported to access the service this year. The project also provides
information and referrals to legal clinics for those who wish to seek redress and justice for
the SGBV incidents.

In 2016, the project referred 363 victims/survivors to legal clinics and several were
supported through the justice process with partners acting as victim’s advocates.

This year, 136 community outreach sessions were held involving 5,517 participants in
both North and South Kivu. The outreach sessions: raised awareness within the
community to reduce stigma for victims of SGBV; provided information about the services
available for victims of these crimes; and \
stressed the importance of reporting SGBV | ‘The beneficiaries believe that they

incidents rather than accepting informal have become disabled, that they
agreements with the perpetrator/perpetrators | cannot contribute to the
family. ] community. Thanks to the

psychosocial assistance and

Many SGBV victims/survivors are rejected by
their husbands and/or families as a result of
being raped and face additional social and
economic challenges. In North Kivu, The Transit

economic activities focused on
entrepreneurship, they have
understood that it is not the end of
the world and that they can work

House Project through our partner LSC assisted

and plan the future.
SGBV victims with the process of reintegrating

Joséphine Malimukono, WI Focal
Point for National Advocacy,
Director, LSC, North Kivu

with their families. LSC provided: follow-up
psycho-social counselling to 156 victims; ‘

training workshops on income-generation
activities for 184 SGBV victims; 93 house-to-
house visits to raise awareness amongst victims’ families; and three family mediation
sessions for women who were rejected by their husbands as a result of being raped.

One of the key strategies we adopted with our partners in this project is fostering a sense
of ownership by local communities regarding the Transit House facilities. Village leaders in
locations where the Transit Houses are located have expressed pride in the facility and
what the project is doing for the community. Engaging the communities served by the
Transit House encourages confidence in the programmes and our partners. It has also
made the service more accessible for those who need it and contributed to the
sustainability of the project.
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Traditional leaders and community elders

actively refer SGBV victims to the project and I live by myself, | know many rape
village leaders, police, and faith leaders survivors that hid after what
participate in SGBV outreach sessions and now happened to them. | will be the

refer SGBV victims to the project and also = awareness-raiser against rape in my
promote accountability for these crimes village and will raise awareness for

within their communities. victims and their access to care and
justice’

Examples of responses by local leaders

following their involvement in activities of the Transit House Project Participant,

Transit House Project: South Kivu

e Religious leaders in South Kivu raised awareness amongst their parishioners about
SGBV in order to reduce stigma and to encourage victims to seek medical
treatment and support.

e Village leaders in South Kivu now meet every Friday morning to broadcast
messages via megaphones raising awareness in their communities about SGBV
and to encourage the residents to become a healthy and peaceful community.

e In South Kivu, a sub-village leader, supported by our partners, provided mediation
for two married couples whose husbands had rejected their wives because they
had been raped by militia combatants. Through the Transit House Project, both
women received treatment at Panzi Hospital for the rape-related injuries.

e As a result of the outreach programmes, more members of the community are
referring SGBV victims to the Transit House Project and more SGBV victims, who
had previously been silent about the sexual violence they experienced, have
reported the incidents.

e A committee was established in a village in South Kivu to monitor and follow-up
on cases of conflict-related sexual violence. Since then, the psychosocial assistants
at the Transit House have registered a higher number of SGBV cases reported
from this village.

e More than 35 girls who were victims of SGBV were assisted to return to schools in
Rutshuru, North Kivu.

Documentary Screenings and | Influen thosew:th
Advocacy Events influen

Engaging with local decision-makers (political cultural, civic, judicial and military leaders)
has been a deliberate and critical strategy for creating the diverse alliances necessary to
generate tangible changes for gender justice, within communities experiencing conflict-
related violence and its aftermath. This has been our strategy and our experience for
many years within eastern DRC and 2016 was no exception to the power of movement
building.

One of the programmes through which we engage local leaders is in the documentary
screenings and advocacy events, organised by our partners in North and South Kivu and
Province Orientale. This strategy is intended to influence those with influence and has
contributed to several positive gender justice outcomes.
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Partners collaborating in this programme were:
Action des Femmes pour les Droits et le ‘Before watching this w
développement (AFD); Centre d’Education et documentary, | had a vague idea
Recherche pour les Droits des Femmes (CERDF); about sexual violence, but | could
Encadrement des Femmes Indigenes et des not have imagined that it affected
Ménages Vulnérables (EFIM); Initiatives Alpha; | the victim in her entire being. As of
and Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise (LSC). today, | understand that the issue

During 2016, our partners held 25 screenings of of sexual violence must not be

the gender justice documentary, ‘Our Voices trivialised.’

Matter’, which we produced with our DRC A young man from Nyalikemba,
partners in collaboration with WITNESS. These South Kivu.

one-day screenings and advocacy events were \ _J

held in three conflict-affected and involved
5,268 participants.

Those attending the documentary screenings included: local and provincial political and
administrative authorities; traditional leaders; community and religious leaders; police
officers; military and civil prosecutors; and defence lawyers. In addition, civil society
organisations, journalists, teachers, community members, representatives of youth
organisations, trade unions, students, midwifery networks and SGBV victims/survivors
also participated in the documentary screenings and advocacy events.

The screenings raised awareness about: the impact of SGBV on individuals and
communities; the medical, psychosocial and economic needs of the victims/survivors of
these crimes; the widespread impunity for conflict-related sexual violence; and the
multiplicity of perpetrators with the ongoing splintering of militia groups and the
formation and breaking-up of alliances
between armed militias.

This year, military authorities in Province
Orientale requested a special screening of
the gender-justice documentary for
members of the Congolese Armed Forces
(FARDC]).

The screenings are always accompanied
by an interactive discussion with
participants and sometimes include a
panel of discussants comprised of justice
and civil society stakeholders, as well as
SGBYV victims.

Documentary screening in Ake, South Kivu

According to our partners, the documentary screening and advocacy events
complemented with use of the SGBV documentation data, create an effective and
compelling combination for both informing and motivating key decision-makers to take
action.

Documentary + SGBV data = Motivation to act
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According to the data collected by partners, [~ ™

following the documentary screenings, decision
makers, report that they: feel more aware of
SGBV issues; have a stronger recognition of
their responsibility to prevent the commission

‘I am convinced that what is
essential is that all civilians unite for
peace. | planted in my soul the tree
of vengeance — that is uprooting as

of these crimes; and many express a of now.
commitment to ending impunity in their SGBV Victim/Survivor
respective villages, agencies, courts, institutions ™ r

and ministries.

A sample of concrete actions undertaken by local leaders following their participation in
the documentary screenings and advocacy events include:

In Province Orientale, decision-makers committed themselves to re-opening
legal clinics in two remote locations with a high prevalence of SGBV, as well as
to establish a fund for SGBV victims to assist with medical services as well as
social and economic reintegration.

In South Kivu, Action des Femmes pour les Droits et le développement (AFD)
established focal points in a number of villages to facilitate the reporting of
SGBV incidents.

In North Kivu, participants at the documentary screenings committed
themselves to: discouraging the use of informal agreements between SGBV
victims and the perpetrator/perpetrators family; continuing awareness-raising
meetings in the villages; and increasing their efforts against the practice of
dowries and girl-child marriage, often in response to rape.

In North Kivu, the Ministry of Justice representatives and other decision-
makers designed a new
initiative  called, ‘listening
clubs’. These are offices to be
established by the
neighbourhood chiefs within
Goma, so that victims of
human rights violations,
including SGBV, can report the
incident and seek support.

In South Kivu, a community
committed itself to advocate
for the return of two underage
girls who had been abducted
and forcibly married, and also
demonstrated against the marriage of a pregnant woman who was forced to
marry the rapist/perpetrator.

Training and documentary screening, Goma,
North Kivu

In North Kivu, the Ministry of Justice representatives and other decision-
makers supported the creation of a security alert system in different areas of
Goma. The alert system is to be organised by the neighbourhood chiefs and is
designed to operate mainly as a response to security threats.
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e In Province Orientale, decision-makers who had participated in documentary
screenings, conducted a review of legal fees in order to assess whether these
impact on the ability of SGBV victims to access the justice process.

e In South Kivu, police and the military have expressed zero tolerance for rape
and SGBV and have encouraged the community to report these crimes.

e In North and South Kivu, religious leaders committed themselves to informing
their congregations (Catholics, Protestants, Muslims, etc.) about SGBV issues.

® In Province Orientale, provincial decision-makers and justice stakeholders
participating in the screenings committed themselves to respond to SGBV
within the mandates of their respective structures, roles and institutions.

Gender Justice Training and Capacity-Building Workshops

This year, five partners in three provinces in
eastern DRC — North Kivu, South Kivu and
Province Orientale — conducted seven multi-
day training workshops involving 189
participants.

Partners conducting workshops were: Action
des Femmes pour les Droits et e
développement (AFD); Centre d’Education et
. Recherche pour les Droits des Femmes
(CERDF); Encadrement des Femmes Indigénes
et des Ménages Vulnérables (EFIM); Initiatives
Alpha; and Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise
(LSC).

Training and documentary screening,
Kitshanga, North Kivu

The workshops involved politicat decision-makers, religious leaders, military leaders, and
civil society organisations including groups from the youth sector.

This year the training workshops focused on: international women’s human rights
standards; documenting sexual and gender-based crimes and other human rights
violations; United Nations peace and security resolutions including Resolutions 1325 and
1820; and the Framework Agreement of Addis Ababa.

The capacity building workshops grew out of our advocacy programme with decision-
makers and the recognition that to successfully motivate and enable these leaders to take
effective action in support of gender justice outcomes, greater awareness and knowledge
about these issues were needed. The training workshops assist with the meaningful
engagement of decision-makers who wish to act or may be encouraged to act in support
of gender justice but are unsure what they can do and how to go about it.

In North Kivu, our partner, EFIM, provided training for its staff members on
de-traumatisation support for SGBV victims/survivors with whom they work in the
documentation programme. Following the training, EFIM held de-traumatisation sessions
for 15 SGBV victims (‘girl-mothers’) in Kitshanga, North Kivu, an area of high prevalence of
conflict-related SGBV. As part of this programme, EFIM also trained SGBV
victims/survivors in the cultivation of mushrooms as an income generation prglqgtb(}ig + CO
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In light of the political uncertainty
regarding the Presidential elections in
2016, one of our partners, CERDF, held
a three-day workshop in Kisangani,
Province  Orientale, focusing on
monitoring  public demonstrations,
documenting violations of women’s
and human rights in the DRC electoral
period, and preparing documentation
reports. The workshop utilised and
adapted the documentation training
we provided to our DRC partners, most
recently in 2013. The training involved
participants of women’s and human

“In 2011, the Women's Initiatives for
Gender Justice worked with CERDF to
observe the presidential and legislative
elections in Province Orientale. Through
this partnership, CERDF was able to train
and deploy 100 observers. Now five years
later, this training has implemented a
corps of long-term observers supported
by CERDF.

Claudine Bela Badeaza, W/ Focal Point,
Director of CERDF, Province Orientale.

rights organisations, members of youth organisations, including students, and the

Commission on Justice and Peace.

Due to the political turbulence in the DRC resulting from the lack of constitutional
elections, CERDF trained electoral observers in documentation techniques in order to
track human and women'’s rights violations and to be able to produce a reliable report on
the documentation data. Following the workshop, participants formed a corps of election
observers and CERDF coordinated four radio and TV broadcasts highlighting the
importance of peaceful elections and non-violent protests.

Training, capacity building and creating spaces for mutual exchanges
between gender justice advocates (partners) and decision-makers in
armed conflict situations contributes to positive changes in motivation,
| skills and knowledge. It also builds a movement of gender justice allies.

Legal Representation and Monitoring of Mobile Courts

Our strategy of concurrently interfacing with gender justice issues at the grassroots level
as well as within the international arena has proven to be an effective approach to
expand and improve access to and outcomes for gender-inclusive justice. Working with
local courts as well as with the ICC informs our advocacy and legal strategies in both

jurisdictions.

During this period, two of our partners Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise (LSC) and
Centre d’Education et Recherche pour les Droits des Femmes (CERDF) monitored six courts
in North Kivu and Province Orientale, focusing on 12 SGBV cases. They provided advocacy
for and with SGBV victims throughout the legal process as well as support to access legal

representation.

In the last quarter of 2016, there were no mobile court hearings in North Kivu, due to: the
lack of funds; the unavailability of judges for the Hearings; and the political context within
the province. Instead, LSC seized the opportunity to examine the issue of court fees and
the impact of the legal tariffs on the ability of SGBV victims to access the justice system.
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LSC researched the court fees charged at four local and mobile courts and also
interviewed community and justice stakeholders. The data collected showed that: the
legal tariffs are not respected; that the legal limit set for the court fees are exaggeratedly
high; and that the fee levels further reduce the ability of SGBV victims/survivors to access
justice. The research also revealed that there is inconsistency between the courts as to
the tariff and fees charged.

Following these findings, LSC launched a campaign involving 145 decision-makers
including provincial policy-makers and justice stakeholders. The campaign produced
outreach material including flyers and a fact sheet comparing the legal fee level with the
actual fees charged by several courts, including the mobile courts. This information was
distributed to several courts, prosecution offices and the administrative authorities to
raise awareness and to mobilise support for reform of these practices. LSC also
coordinated a letter-writing campaign to individual decision-makers requesting them to
address these issues and highlighting the practice by Courts of charging higher fees than is
legally allowed, which directly affects access to justice for female victims/survivors
including SGBV victims. In support of the letter writing, LSC met with the Provincial
Ministry of Justice and advocated for the government to enforce the legal limit on fees
which they had set. This issue is yet to be resolved.

In Province Orientale, CERDF provided support and advice on legal representation in a
case involving two girls who had been raped and subsequently sexually assaulted by the
prosecutor assighed to their case. The Prosecutor accused of sexual assault claimed that
this had been part of his ‘professional techniques’ in interviewing the rape victims. This
led to a public uproar and the case was transferred to the Prosecutor-General in
Kisangani. Along with CERDF, we have provided assistance, material support and housing
to the young victims. When the prosecutor was acquitted of the sexual violence charges,
despite significant evidence - S

against him, we appealed before ‘Our programme with the Women'’s Initiatives

the Court of f’\p.peals on behalf of for Gender Justice gave confidence back to
the two victims and CERDF victims and their community.’

submitted a complaint before the
High Judicial Council. While Claudine Bela Badeaza, WI! Focal Point, Director
awaiting the decision of the courts, of CERDF, Province Orientale

the Prosecutor fled and his /
whereabouts is unknown.

Evaluation

During 2016, Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise {LSC) conducted an auto-evaluation of its
collaborative programme with the Women'’s Initiatives (WI), on advancing gender justice
in the DRC and before the ICC. The evaluation reviewed LSC/WI activities conducted in
2013-2015 and focused on: identifying progress, changes or impact as a result of the
collaboration; identifying challenges, particularly related to the security situation in North
Kivu and the political will and context; outlining lessons learned; and proposing
recommendations for the programme.

This partner-led evaluation initiative provided an important opportunity to assess and

strengthen our collaborative work with LSC and ensure that the gender justice

programme meets current needs and the desired outcomes. .
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The evaluation concluded our collaboration with LSC between 2013 and 2015 enabled
them to:
e Continuously implement conflict-related SGBV documentation missions;

¢ Provide referrals and services to SGBV victims/survivors;

e Conduct strategic documentary screenings for key audiences;

¢ Implement the Transit House project; and

¢ Access and create opportunities to advocate for gender justice.

Specifically, between 2013 and 2015, the LSC/WI collaboration: interviewed 499 women
and girls in conflict zones through the SGBV documentation missions; provided
psychological assistance to more than 550 women and girls through the Transit House
Project; raised the awareness of more than 150,000 people on gender justice issues and
the fight against violence (including direct participants and secondary beneficiaries of the
programme); carried out more than 15 documentary screenings; monitored six mobile
court trials involving SGBV charges against soldiers and militia combatants; and
conducted advocacy before relevant provincial and national ministries and government
officials.

The evaluation found that the screenings, advocacy events and meetings involved 22,046
participants. This was largely due to holding public screenings attended by large numbers
of people. During 2016, the screenings were attended by smaller numbers of people due
to the security situation and because some of the documentary screenings were held in
remote locations and small village settings.

Overall, LSC found that the activities undertaken through the collaborative gender justice
programme with WI have had both tangible and intangible impacts in relation to
addressing violence against women.

The evaluation outlined five important lessons learned:

* The number of victims identified and assisted is small in contrast to the number of
victims in need. The context of the ongoing armed conflict creates more SGBV
victims every week;

¢ While there is a war, armed clashes, pockets of resistance where rebels, national
or foreign troops impose their laws, the risk of occurrence of SGBV remains high
and the reduction of these crimes is difficult to achieve;

e The collaborative gender justice programme with WI initiated a new level of
impressive mobilisation of the community, ambitious objectives, and more
sophisticated tools and approaches;

* The prevention of sexual violence and the response to victims’ of these crimes,
requires the implementation of a general provision/law to be advocated for at
different levels; and

e The gender justice actions for community relief, the non-repetition of violence,
and the response to sexual violence requires the mobilisation of all relevant
actors, at all levels.
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Recommendations for the further strengthening of the partnership between LSC and Wi,
include for Wi to:

o Continue to mobilise resources for collaborative activities;

e Continue to lend its voice and support for domestic advocacy initiatives towards
stahility and the re-establishment of durable peace in the DRC;

e Support locally-led reforms within the judicial system, police and military services
in order to address impunity for conflict-related SGBVY;

e Advocate for the DRC Government and its allies to design and implement
protection strategies for populations at risk of armed conflict; and

e Support additional strategies for the development and weli-being of the partner
personnel working on the project.

The collaborative programme with the Women’s Initiatives for Gender
| Justice initiated a new level of impressive mobilisation of the community,
; ambitious objectives, and more sophisticated tools and approaches.
‘- - Ligue pour la Solidarité Congolaise
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Reintegration Programme

Following a two-year consultation process, in 2016 we launched a formal partnership with
the Justice and Reconciliation Project (JRP) and the Women’s Advocacy Network (WAN), a
network of women formerly
abducted by the Lord’s Resistance
Army (LRA).

One of the recurring issues raised
within the consultations as well as
during the 2014-2015 screenings
of our Ugandan gender justice
documentary, No Longer Silent,
was the high level of community
hostility towards LRA returnees,
especially females returning with

children. The community-
discrimination and resentment Family members pose for a photo after a reunification
towards female returnees was ceremony in Kitgum

described by a female former abductee as ‘one of the most significant barriers to being
able to rebuild our lives’.

Over 400 cultural leaders, clan elders, family members, community members, women
formerly abducted by the LRA and children born as a result of the armed conflict
participated in the reintegration programme activities during 2016.

The Reintegration Programme is a grassroots initiative designed to re-establish trust,
forgiveness and acceptance. This programme complements our work during the Juba
Peace Talks and it is an initiative to make the draft National Transitional Justice Policy
more accessible and meaningful for victims of the armed conflict.

In addition to mediation, the
programme undertakes child tracing
which involves tracing the family of
the father of the children born to
women abducted by the LRA. In
most cases, the children’s fathers
are still in the ‘bush’ and are
combatants or mid-senior level LRA
commanders. The project traces the
family of the child’s father to seek
acknowledgement of paternity. The
project provides mediation between
female returnees and their families,
clans and communities to foster

This project has brought kweno cwiny
(consolation) to the women and their children
who are victims of the LRA war in Uganda and

to both the maternal and paternal clans of
their children. This is particularly meaningful
for the families who lost their sons in captivity,
as they see their reunited grandchildren as a
replacement for those who are missing. To
me, this is the best work | have ever been
involved in because | feel happy when | help
people reunite with their children, it also gives
me hope that one day | will also find my
daughter and live once again with her.’

reconciliation. This
Evelyn Amony-Chairperson WAN/Project acknowledgement is critical for the
Assistant, JRP children to be recognised as having

rights including a right to land,
communal affiliatiordub@q@ +CO

REGISTERACCOUNTANTS

.\ “é“?fua 2017

e Ao
initials for u:@'ﬁh}::ha Ffipases;
oo

e

24



inheritance and in turn this process signals further acceptance and reintegration for the
women/mothers. Importantly, this process also contributes to reducing the stigma
associated with having been abducted by the LRA and returning with children born as a
result of enslavement and rape.

The Reintegration Programme follows a three-stage process:

1.Family Tracing which has two

THE WOMEN'S ADVYOCACY NETWORK components; home/background
AT JUSTICE AND RECONCILIATION PROJECT search; and pre-visits with paternal
families.
In Partnership with
a.Home/background search - the

WOMEN'S INITIATIVES FOR GENDER JUSTICF

names and whereabouts of paternal
families are often unknown and can
be difficult to discover as males
abducted by the LRA often used
pseudonyms in the bush. Various
methods are used to locate the
family, including consulting others
who were in the LRA and other
abductees. Background information

obtained also helps with
reunification planning and

: : preparation.
———— ;_._; 2 b.Pre-visits and Family Dialogues —
Supporting rel1zegln1n:3ifL-::r affected women and once located, the project mediators
TP conduct a pre-visit with the paternal
i e _ and maternal families with the dual
e Al e ST purpose  of  mediating  any
BRI s B o sk e bitterness’ between  them, and

informing and preparing the process
of reunification, including assessing
the willingness to proceed.

2. Reunifications — women (mothers),

children and other members of the
maternal family are escorted by the mediators to the paternal home and supported
through a reunification process led by local cultural leaders.

3. Follow-up and referral — after the reunification ceremony, the mediators follow-up
with the paternal family to ensure child(ren) and women’s safety and welfare, and
to provide referrals to other services and support for the child(ren) according to
their needs {including counselling/psycho social, health, livelihoods, education).

In addition to family reunification, the project also conducted related activities,including:

UDO1S + CO
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e Capacity building for WAN group members, to increase their skills and legitimacy
to advocate for and lead processes relating to the (re)integration of children born
of war as well as their mothers.

e Hosting two dialogues with cultural leaders — to encourage their engagement and
participation on the issue of reunification and reconciliation and to foster greater
acceptance of female returnees and their children.

e Public awareness raising through radio talk shows led by WAN members and
cultural leaders. The radio shows raised awareness about the specific issues facing
female returnees and their children. It also informed other returnees and the
community about the project. The radio shows also helped to reduce
discrimination and create empathy for the female returnees and their children in
three conflict-affected sub-regions in northern Uganda, specifically Lango, Teso
and West Nile, where there is less awareness and more stigmatization of children
born in LRA captivity.

The programme developed a three-pronged approach with engaging cultural leaders; a)
cultural leader engagement in the family reunifications in Acholi sub-region; b) cultural
leader engagement through the radio talk shows in Lango, Teso and West Nile sub-
regions; and c) engagement of cultural leaders through two Dialogues.

Outputs of the project:

Activity/output Frequency
Talk shows 9
Cultural leaders dialogue 2
Family reunions _ 13
Number of children 19

_reunited R
Number of women 13

_reunited/accepted

‘Our partnership with the Women'’s initiatives for Gender Justice (Wi) was a direct answer to the prayers of
women and young mothers who returned from captivity and for children born of war who dearly cried for
reintegration. The first of its kind, the partnership achieved beyond our dreams. | am personally motivated
by the success stories, achievements and lessons learned during implementation of the Reintegration
Programme with WI.

Isaac Okwir Odiya — Head of Office, JRP
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Launch of Reintegration Policy

In November 2016, a policy brief was launched by the Justice and Reconciliation Project
(JRP) and the Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice on the reintegration of children born
of war. The policy highlights the challenges for women who have returned to their
communities after being abducted and enslaved by the LRA and the difficulties they face
with their children, born as a result of rape. The policy emphasises the important role of
cultural leaders in the reintegration process for female returnees and their children and
provides recommendations to enhance the success of reintegration processes.

The policy brief emerged out of two cultural dialogues hosted by JRP, WAN and the
Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice in 2016. The dialogues involved 31 local cultural
leaders from four conflict-affected sub-regions of northern Uganda. Facilitated by JRP
and WAN, these dialogues aimed to build awareness of the reintegration challenges faced
by women returning from LRA captivity and their children born of war. The dialogues also
solicited the support and leadership of the cultural leaders in order to reduce the
discrimination experienced by many of the female returnees and their children and
ensure more effective reintegration programmes.

Female returnees face many challenges including, victim blaming and stigmatization,
uncertain livelihoods, limited access to housing, food security and vocational training
opportunities to be able to rebuild their lives. In turn, their children also face issues
around cultural identity and they are denied access to land and the ability to inherit
unless they are acknowledged by the paternal family. Cultural leaders play a vital role in
ensuring that these challenges are addressed.

| Read the Policy Brief here
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Wamare Institute

Wamare means ‘love each other/one another’ in Luo, one of the local
languages of northern Uganda.

In 2017, we will launch the inaugural Wamare Institute, a two-week residential institute
for 30 women formerly abducted by the LRA. In preparation for the Institute, during 2016
we held a series of meetings and consultations with local service providers in Gulu and
Lira as well as with female returnees.

The objectives of these consultations were to: introduce the idea of the Institute and illicit
feedback on the concept; consult on the proposed programme and design of the
Institute; invite their support; assess the capacity of local service providers as potential
resource people and trainers for the Institute; develop a network of referrals for
participants following the
Institute; and deepen our
knowledge and understanding of
the specific challenges and
priority issues for female
returnees.

The NGOs consulted with were:
the Justice, Reconciliation and
Peace Project; the Centre for
Victims of Torture; Children of
Peace Uganda; Terra
Renaissance; CARE International;
and St Monica’s.

Consultations for the Wamare Institute

These organisations were very positive about the concept of the Institute. All of them
noted the limited programmes available for returnees and the lack of specific
programmes for female returnees. They also noted the additional gender-related
challenges this group of returnees face due to their status as females and their perceived
or actual loss of ‘virginity’ during their time with the LRA, and the enhanced stigma for
young women who have returned with children as a result of rape and sexual
enslavement.

The service providers were very supportive of the design features of the Institute and our
approach to combine capacity building workshops with trauma-related sessions. They
were also excited by our proposal to include yoga and meditation as well as health-
related sessions including on primary health care and the use of traditional herbs in
cooking and drinks as an affordable and accessible response to some of the chronic health
issues faced by the returnees and their children.

Those we met with were supportive of our methodology as well as the proposed size of
the Institute (30 individuals/Institute). They agreed with our assessments that: the size of
the group impacts on the quality of the experience; small groups work better with
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returnees; and being able to tailor the training to respond to individual needs of
traumatised participants is very important.

All of the service providers with whom we consulted were willing to be resource
people/trainers for the Institute and through-out 2016 we maintained contact with them
to keep them updated and engaged in the process and to ensure their availability for the
Institute. At the conclusion of the consultations and in the follow-up process, we were
able to identify local trainers for all sessions.

Female Returnees

We also met with groups of female returnees including: WAN, a network with over 600
member and groups in Acholi, Lango and West Nile sub-regions; Ting Peko (To Carry the
Burden), based in Kaberamaido, Teso sub-region; Lwalga Abducted Survivors, based in
Soroti, Teso sub-region; and Kwo Mito Yele {Life Requires a Struggle) based in Oryem,
Acholi sub-region.

All of these groups were initiated by female returnees in response to the community and
familial rejection many of them encountered upon their return from the bush, as well as
out of desperation to survive and respond to the high levels of impoverishment they face.

Four clear needs and priorities were expressed during the consultations:
Livelihood and income generation projects to be able to survive and support
themselves and their children;
e Food security {access to land for planting crops and the ability to provide food for
themselves);
e Access to education for their children; and
e Reconciliation with their families, clans and the community.

Based on the consultations and those held
in 2014-2015 with female returnees, the
Institute is designed to: support the
ongoing healing and recovery process for
young women; build support networks
amongst this community of victims
survivors from diverse ethnic groups as a
source of ongoing peer support and foster
reconciliation; develop knowledge and life
skills (including parenting, reproductive
health and ‘food as medicine’); support
ongoing healing, personal recovery and
trauma management through music and
dance, story-telling and body-mapping
sessions (acknowledging the harm they
experienced); the development of personal skills for managing flashbacks, anxiety, anger,
despondency and isolation through psychosocial education sessions; and provide
opportunities for capacity building with a focus on savings and loan credit schemes,
entrepreneurial skills (applicable to income generation projects), advocacy skills, and
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designing strategic interventions to influence implementation of the transitional justice
policy.

During 2016, we held meetings with the Ugandan President’s representative and the
Local District Council in Gulu to introduce the Wamare Institute, its purpose and
intentions and to propose the development of a peace path as a public memorial of those
who were killed, abducted, raped and harmed in any other way as a result of the LRA-
related conflict. The representatives were interested in these initiatives and indicated
their support for both the Institute and the Peace Path.

Monitoring Domestic Courts

We continued monitoring the ongoing preparations by the Ugandan Director of Public
Prosecutions and the Judges of the International Crimes Division (ICD) for the first hearing
in the case against Thomas Kwoyelo, a former LRA commander. In 2016, important pre-
trial hearings were held before the ICD where the judges are considering the charges
brought by the Prosecutor’s Office against Kowyelo, in order to determine whether there
are reasonable grounds to believe that he committed the crimes for which he is charged.

This is an important test case. It is the first case before the ICD and the first case
prosecuted by an ICC state’s party, enacting the complementarity principle. 1t is also the
first case where a state party is implementing and applying the rules and practices of the
ICC in a domestic trial. Novel to the justice system within Uganda is the practice of victim
participation in legal proceedings. During the pre-trial hearings a number of victims were
recognised to participate and according to one of the two victim’s legal representative
teams, there are likely to be more victims in the case through-out the pre-trial phase.

Kowyelo is charged with rape, murder, recruitment of children and destruction of crops
and property, amongst other charges. The original charges did not include acts of rape.
However, as a result of advocacy by us and others for the ICD to expand its investigative
priorities to include sexual violence, the charges against Kowyelo were amended in
September 2016 to include rape as a crime against humanity.

Our strategy of concurrently interfacing with gender justice issues at the local and
national levels as well as in the international arena has proven to be an effective
methodology for expanding and improving access to and outcomes of justice processes.
In addition, it ensures that our work is grounded in the reality and experience of victims
of these crimes. It also informs our domestic programmes to address harm, promote
reconciliation, and support those who are amongst the most marginalised victims of
armed conflicts, primarily women and children.
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During 2016, we continued our legal monitoring
and advocacy in nine out of ten situations® under
investigation by the ICC and all cases before the
Court where charges for sexual and gender-based
crimes (SGBCs} have been brought.

“| can absolutely guarantee that if
the Women'’s Initiatives for
Gender Justice did not exist there
would not be a fraction as much
prosecution of gender crimes in
the ICC as there is now.”?

- Dr. Kelly Askin, Scholar and
Gender Justice Expert

In total, 14 of 23 cases brought by the ICC
included charges for sexual and gender-based
crimes, including 10 cases relating to our previous
and current ‘priority’ countries (Uganda, DRC, Sudan and Libya). Of six ongoing ICC trials
between January and December 2016,% four included SGBCs. During 2016, four cases
entered the reparations stage (Lubanga, Katanga, Bemba, and Al Mahdi) of which only
one includes a conviction for SGBCs (Bemba).

‘ Overall, 61% of the cases before the ICC in 2016 included charges for sexual
and gender-based crimes and 70% of these charges have been successfully
| confirmed to the trial stage.

Our consistent monitoring and advocacy since 2004 has contributed to this record,
including through our: strategic advocacy with senior decision-makers within the Office of
the Prosecutor (OTP) and case-based teams; case-by-case legal monitoring; the provision
of SGBV documentation to support ICC investigations and SGBV charges; phase-based
advocacy (at the preliminary examination, analysis, investigation, prosecution,
sentencing, and reparation phases); and legal filings as amicus curiae before the Court on
seven occasions relating to three cases. Our annual Gender Report Cards on the ICC
(2005-2014) also contributed both to the body of material analysing gender justice at the
ICC and also to the motivation of the ICC to integrate sexual and gender-based crimes and
other gender issues within its work.

Our Executive Director, in her pro bono role as the Special Advisor on Gender to the
Prosecutor of the ICC from 2012-2016, developed the Policy on Sexual and Gender-based
Crimes with the Office of the Prosecutor. This policy, the first of its kind in international
justice, describes and integrates the gender provisions of the Rome Statute into policy
imperatives and practice standards for the OTP. It adopts a gender analysis as a systemic
approach to considering SGBV and other gender issues at each stage of the process —
preliminary investigations; investigations; prosecutions; appeals. The policy is both
practical and aspirational. It also outlines the approach the OTP will adopt in assessing
potential evidence of SGBCs, working with and interviewing victims/witnesses of these
crimes, and recognises that sexual violence is committed against boys and girls, men and
women.

! Uganda, DRC, Sudan, CAR, CAR 1l, Kenya, Libya, Cote d’lvoire and Mali.

? Ntaganda, Bemba, Ruto & Sang (terminated on 5 April 2016), Laurent Gbagbo & Blé Goudé, Ongwen and

Al Mahdi Trial Judgment on 27 September 2016).

*Dr. Kelly Askin, speech at expert panel on ‘Prosecutions and Jurisprudence — What we ha\(ie achieved, what
remains to be done’, 20 April 2010, the International Gender Justice Dialogue (Puerto Valﬁrﬁ Mﬁm&'}s 4+ CO
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In the reporting period, two new Preliminary Examinations were opened by the OTP. On
25 April 2016, the OTP opened a Preliminary Examination into the Situation in Burundi
since April 2015. On 29 September 2016, a Preliminary Examination was also opened into
the Situation in Gabon as of May 2016 with no end-date, following a referral from the
Government.

Case Monitoring

Dominic Ongwen~ Uganda

In January 2016, we monitored, issued a statement
and provided live updates via social media on the ICC
Confirmation of Charges Hearing in the case against
Dominic Ongwen (Ongwen).

Ongwen is the alleged former Brigade Commander of
the Sinia Brigade of the LRA. Ongwen faces 70 counts
of war crimes and crimes against humanity, of which a
significant number relate to sexual violence, making it the case with the highest number
of counts before the ICC to date and the highest number of counts for crimes of sexual
violence to date. This is the first case before the ICC involving an LRA commander and the
first case in which the charge of forced pregnancy has been brought.

Ongwen is charged with committing, at least from 1 July 2002 to 31 December 2005,
together with others and through the fighters under his command, inter alia, the crimes
of forced marriage, rape, sexual slavery, enslavement, torture, outrages upon personal
dignity and forced pregnancy. He was surrendered to the Court by the Central African
Republic on 16 January 2015, following his capture/voluntary surrender.’

At the beginning of the trial, on 6 December 2016, the Defence argued that Ongwen did
not understand the charges against him, stemming from mental health issues. However,
the Chamber concluded that Ongwen understood the charges and subsequently he
pleaded not guilty to all charges. On 16 December 2016, the Chamber maintained its
initial finding that Ongwen was fit to stand trial, but ordered a psychiatric review to be
conducted. There has been no information on when this assessment will be conducted,
whether it has already been undertaken or what the outcomes and findings were. As the
trial continues, it appears that the Chamber found Ongwen fit to stand trial and to be
unimpaired by mental health issues. At the time of the opening of the trial, we published
a statement on the importance of this case and utilised social media to highlight this stage
of proceedings.

There are currently 4,107 victims recognised in this case represented by two legal teams.

4 Women’s Initiatives for Gender Justice, ‘Statement on commencement of first ICC confirmation of charges

hearing in the Uganda Situation’, 20 January 2016, available at <http://4genderjustice.org/ffdtliiq)o i S

confirmation-of-charges-hearing-in-the-uganda-situation/>. ‘*E‘?';Tmfxccgu:}a CO
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Bosco Ntaganda- DRC

During 2016, we monitored the trial against Bosco
Ntaganda (Ntaganda) which began on 2 September 2015.
Ntaganda is charged with 13 counts of war crimes and 5
counts of crimes against humanity. Ntaganda is, inter
alia, charged with the rape and sexual slavery of civilians
and the rape and sexual slavery of child soldiers under
the age of 15.

This case is the first in international criminal law whereby a military leader has been
indicted for sexual violence committed against child soldiers within his own militia group.
To date, 2,149 victims have been granted the right to participate in the trial, represented
by two legal representatives.

During the trial in 2016, 52 Prosecution witnesses provided testimony. There have been a
number of witnesses testifying in relation to the sexual and gender-based crimes
although many of the testimonies have been heard in closed sessions. In September,
Ntaganda initiated a boycott of his trial for 14 days, following a decision by the Chamber
to maintain the restrictions on his contacts and communications. Ntaganda refused to
appear in the courtroom, denied his counsel the authority to represent him in his
absence, and went on a hunger strike.

Following evidence disclosed by the Prosecution showing Ntaganda’s alleged involvement
in witness tampering, on 14 November 2016, the Defence issued a request for stay of
proceedings in which it urged the Trial Chamber to immediately adjourn the proceedings
until 16 January 2017. The Defence requested the adjournment stating they needed time
to analyse communication recordings released by the Prosecution, allegedly implicating
Ntaganda’s involvement in witness tampering, and to allow the Defence to make
informed submissions regarding the impact of the investigation on the fairness of the
proceedings. In an oral ruling on 16 November 2016, the Chamber refused to grant the
Defence request.

Laurent Gbagbo and Charles Blé Goudé- Cote d’Ivoire

In January 2016, we monitored and issued a statement
on the commencement of the trial in the case against
Laurent Gbagbo and Charles Blé Goudé (Blé Goudé) in
the Cote d’lvoire Situation, arising from the post-
election violence in Cote d’lvoire between 2010 and
2011.

Laurent Gbagbo is an lvorian national and the former
President of Cote d’Ivoire. With his arrest and transfer
in 2011, he became the first former Head of State to be transferred into ICC custody. Blé
Goudé is also an Ivorian national and is alleged to have been a member of Laurent
Gbagbo’s inner circle and leader of the Pro-Gbagbo Youth, allegedly involved in the
commission of crimes related to the post-election violence in November 2010. Both
Laurent Gbagbo and Blé Goudé are charged with four counts of crimes against humanity:
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murder, rape, other inhumane acts or, in the alternative, attempted murder, and
persecution.

In June 2016, the Trial Chamber in this case ruled that the testimonies of protected
witnesses will no longer be made available 30 minutes after they start, but only once the
witnesses have completed their testimonies, so as to ensure the integrity of the
proceedings and the witnesses’ protection. There have been several issues regarding
witness protection and intimidation in this case as well as the unintended disclosure in
open court of the identities of other witnesses. Some witnesses were heard with in-court
protective measures due to security and potential self-incrimination concerns, including
the use of pseudonyms for some witnesses; the use of closed session; and the
appointment of legal advisors for most witnesses.

Jean-Pierre Bemba Gombo- CAR

In March 2016, we monitored the delivery of the ICC Trial
Judgment in the cases against Jean-Pierre Bemba Gombo
(Bemba) in the Central African Republic Situation. This
judgment marked the first conviction before the ICC for
crimes of sexual violence as well as the first conviction of
an individual charged with command responsibility, under
Article 28 of the Rome Statute.

We published a statement online in both English and
French and utilised social media to promote this
important judgment and landmark case for the ICC.

In May and June 2016 we monitored both the sentencing hearing as well as the
subsequent decision by Trial Chamber 1l which sentenced Bemba to 18 years’
imprisonment. Importantly, the Chamber established that the crimes of rape and pillaging
acted as aggravating circumstances, and that the commission of rape was of utmost
gravity. The Chamber found that rape had been committed with particular cruelty. This is
the first sentencing decision by the ICC for an individual convicted of crimes of sexual
violence as well as the first sentence issued for an individual charged with command
responsibility.

We published a statement online in both English and French and disseminated
information about the decision through social media. The Defence appealed both the
conviction and the sentencing decisions; and the Prosecution appealed the sentencing
decision. To date, no Appeals Judgment has bheen rendered.

On 22 July 2016, Trial Chamber lll issued an order requesting submissions on a number of
issues relevant to reparations in light of the particular circumstances of the Bemba case,
namely: (1) whether it is necessary to amend or supplement the principles on reparations
identified in the Lubanga case; (2) the adequate criteria and methodology to determine
and assess the eligibility of victims, the relevant harms and the scope of Bemba’s liability;
(3) the appropriate types and modalities of reparations; (4) whether experts may be
usefully appointed at that stage to assist the Chamber; and (5) any other issue that the
parties and participants wish to bring to the attention of the Chamber. These
observations were submitted by parties and interested organisations in October 2016.
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In November, the Registry published a call for experts on reparations in order to ‘assist
the Court at the reparations phase of proceedings’ and on 22 December 2016 submitted a
list of 27 proposed experts relevant to the reparations in the Bemba case as well as the
related applicants’ documents pursuant to the Chamber’s instruction. The Chamber is
now to decide on the appointment of experts on reparations in this case.

Ahmad Al Faqi Al Mahdi- Mali

On 22 August 2016, we issued a statement at the start
of the trial against Ahmad Al Fagi Al Mahdi (Al Mahdi)
in the Mali Situation.

Al Mahdi, allegedly a member of the Ansar Eddine
militant group active in Mali, had been charged with
the war crime of intentionally directing attacks against
historic monuments and buildings dedicated to
religion, including nine mausoleums and one mosque in Timbuktu, Mali, allegedly
committed between 30 June and 11 July 2012. In the statement we highlighted the
surprise and disappointment by the narrowness of the charges in this case, given the
earlier indication of a wide range of crimes allegedly committed in Mali and therefore the
focus of ICC investigations, along with publicly available material produced by the UN and
non-governmental organisations on the crimes reportedly committed by Ansar Eddine
and other militia groups.*

Al Mahdi was sentenced on 27 September 2016 to nine years’ imprisonment, following a
guilty plea. He was the first indictee to plead guilty before the ICC. This was also the first
case before the ICC related to destruction of cultural monuments as a war crime. The trial
was held from 22 to 24 August 2016, the shortest trial to date. The case is now in the
reparations phase and the ICC Registry has launched a call for experts to assist the Court
with reparations.

Germain Katanga- DRC

The case against Germain Katanga (Katanga) was in
the reparations phase throughout 2016. On 7 March
2014, Trial Chamber Il of the ICC convicted, by
majority, Katanga as an accessory to the war crimes
of directing an attack against a civilian population,
pillaging and destruction of property, as well as
murder as a war crime and a crime against humanity
committed during the attack on the village of Bogoro,
in the Ituri district of the DRC on 24 February 2003. The Chamber unanimously acquitted
Katanga as an accessory to rape and sexual slavery as war crimes and crimes against
humanity, as well as of the war crime of using child soldiers. On 23 May 2014, Trial
Chamber ll, by majority, sentenced Katanga to 12 years’ imprisonment.

On 7 April 2016, the Presidency of the ICC approved the prosecution of Katanga by the
DRC at the request of its authorities. The Presidency decided that the allegations against

> Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice, ‘First ICC Trial in the Mali Situation’, 22 August 2016, available at
<http://4genderjustice.org/first-icc-trial-on-mali/>.
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Katanga in the domestic proceedings in the DRC are not the same as the ones for which
he was tried before the ICC. This is the first time the ICC was called upon to interpret and
apply Article 108 of the Rome Statute, which inter alia requires that the Court approve
the prosecution, punishment or extradition of a sentenced person in the custody of a
State of enforcement.

William Samoei Ruto and Joshua Arap Sang- Kenya

On 5 April 2016, in the case against co-
accused William Samoei Ruto (Ruto), the
Deputy President of Kenya, and Joshua Arap
Sang (Sang), the Head of Operations at Kass
FM, in the Kenya Situation, Trial Chamber
V(A), by majority, concluded that the
Prosecution did not present sufficient
evidence ‘on which a reasonable Trial
Chamber could convict the accused’.

The Chamber subsequently vacated the charges against Ruto and Sang and discharged
the accused ‘without prejudice to their prosecution afresh in future’. In its decision, the
Chamber had considered the possibility of changing the legal characterisation of the facts
and circumstances contained in the charges in order to decide whether or not there was a
case to answer at all. However, the Chamber stressed that it should only do this if all the
required elements of the relevant mode of liability were supported by the available
evidence to such an extent as to conclude that a reasonable Trial Chamber could convict
the accused on this alternative basis. In this case it found that the available evidence did
not sufficiently support any of the alternative forms of criminal responsibility to warrant
the continuation of the trial on this basis. In light of this, the Chamber found that there
was no reason to re-characterise the charges. We monitored, tweeted and issued a
Facebook post on the ICC judges’ decision in closing one of the most contentious cases
before the ICC to date.

Thomas Lubanga Dyilo- DRC

On 3 October 2016, in advance of the first public
hearing by the ICC on reparations, we submitted an
": +ii amicus brief to Trial Chamber Il on reparations in the
3% '.' case against Thomas Lubanga Dyilo (Lubanga).
>

Subsequently, on 6 October, we were one of only
! two organisations granted leave by the Judges to
provide an oral presentation at the public hearing.
We were also the only international women’s rights

] i organisation recognised by the judges at this stage
of the case. The publlc hearing was held on 11 and 13 October 2016.

See our public presentation to the Chamber on reparations:
http://www.4genderjustice.org/pub/Presentation-to-TC-li-Reparations-Hearing-October-
2016.pdf
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During the Hearing, we presented our views on reparations issues and the harm caused to
victims of the crimes for which Lubanga was convicted. We proposed specific forms of
reparative programmes including the importance of symbolic, transformative and
preventative forms of reparations, relevant to this case and context.

Our presentation highlighted the significant security concerns expressed by victims and
our partners with whom we consulted, with respect to participating in the reparations
process. Bearing in mind the security issues, E T
we proposed that Lubanga’s financial
responsibility should be detached from
reparative programmes which require an
individual harm and eligibility assessment. The
reparations modalities which typically require
individual victim’s assessments are
rehabilitation, restitution and compensation
reparations provided in the form of
rehabilitation services and training
programmes.

Victims we consulted with expressed deep
concern at the possibility that Lubanga will
have access to information about individual ~ Executive Director speaking at the Lubanga
victim’s harm assessments or eligibility forms repagations hiegning

and this has led to few being willing to

complete the forms or agree to have their information transmitted to the Defence.

Under our proposal, by detaching the types of reparations which would require individual
harm and eligibility form - rehabilitation, restitution and compensation programmes -
from Lubanga’s financial responsibility, it removes the need for any information about
individual victims to be transmitted to the Defence for review.

Our submission suggests that as Lubanga wouldn’t be contributing to the rehabilitation
programmes, he wouldn’t have a right (or need) to review the individual victim’s
assessments. Thus, we proposed that Lubanga’s financial liability should apply to other
forms of reparations which don’t require an individual needs and eligibility assessment,
namely, symbolic, preventative and transformative reparations. We provided a number of
proposals for such reparative programmes tailored to the specific context and facts of this
case and the realities of former child soldiers.

In our filing and presentation we proposed that the Trust Fund for Victims (TFV) provide
the resources for the victims rehabilitation, restitution and compensation programmes
with a contribution from the DRC Government. In keeping with the Appeal’s Chamber
decision on reparations in this case, we proposed that the TFV advance Lubanga the funds
to pay for the symbolic, transformative and preventative reparations, which he is to
reimburse to the TFV if/when he has the financial capacity to do so. For the purposes of
the trial Lubanga was deemed indigent but the Trial Chamber is yet to rule on his
indigence regarding reparations.

We also proposed that the implementation period for reparations in this case should be
five years (instead of the TFV’s proposed three years) with a mid-programme, assessment
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in the third year allowing for adjustments, if needed. We further argued that the €1
million set aside by the TFV for collective reparations in this case, was ‘manifestly
insufficient’. This amount has been determined as a result of the lack of fundraising
undertaken by the TFV for reparations since Lubanga’s conviction in 2012, Many,
including victimised communities in this case (former child soldiers) and local
organisations in conflict-affected areas, have asked why the TFV had not launched a
fundraising strategy for reparations at the time of Lubanga’s conviction.

We published our filings, including links to other public filings on reparations, as well as
our presentation on social media. We also live tweeted the entire public hearing.

Watch a short video of the ICC public hearing on reparations:
httos://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Se-y|5cBD-s

On 21 October 2016, Trial Chamber Il approved and ordered the TFV to start the
implementation of a plan submitted by the TFV for symbolic collective reparations for
victims in the case. On 8 December, the Chamber ordered the TFV to submit information
regarding collective reparations.
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The organisation’s communication during 2016:

3,110 Twitter followers

34,395 website views. 70% were new visitors.

21 public statements gender justice and ICC-related issues, including
judgments and major decisions in cases. Three of these statements were
published in English and French.

Three e-letters disseminated through our global outreach list and to e-lists
ensuring a potential readership of 150,000 recipients per eletter.

26 Facebook posts; 21,827 likes, comments and shares with more than
50% of the users visiting the page also reacting to the posts.

Read a chapter by the Women’s Initiative Executive Director, entitled,
‘Transforming Legal Concepts and Gender Perceptions’, in the new
publication by African Legal Aid, ‘The International Criminal Court and Africa:
One Decade On'.

See quotes by the Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice in the media:

Yahoo News Modern Ghana

The Independent Uganda Capital News Kenya
Qatar Tribune New Vision Uganda
The East African ENCA
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Annex A.
Legal and Organisational Structure

The Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice was established on 7th of January 2004 in The
Hague, Netherlands and is established for an unlimited period of time. Since 2010, we
have also been registered as a non-profit organisation within Uganda.

The organisation was created with the goal to promote the integration of a gender
perspective into international humanitarian and criminal laws and institutions.

The Board is responsible for the governance of the organisation with the following
membersin 2016:

Gabrielle Mclintyre, Chair

Judicael Elidje, Treasurer (23 July 2016 —)

Elizabeth Farr, Secretary

Friso Wiegman, Treasurer (1 January — 22 July 2016)
Brigid Inder, OBE, Executive Director

In 2016, the Women’s Initiatives for Gender Justice operated with the staff structure
approved by the Board, with the following staff members:

1. Brigid Inder, OBE, Executive Director
Anisa Suceska Vekic, Programme Manager
. Judith Acana — Uganda Programme Officer
Delphine Weil Accardo— Legal Monitoring Consultant

Maria Elvira Mingo Jaramillo — Junior Legal Fellow and Programme Assistant (DRC)

2
3
4
5
6. Delia Grigoras — Senior Legal Intern
7. Samantha Addens — Legal Intern

8. Daria Fulneczek — Administration Associate

9. Marwah Ahmad — Administration Associate
10. Neda Loncaric Finci — Administration Associate

11. Danny van Opmeer and Daniél Sinemus — Finance Officers (Van Tunen Finance
Company)

Subject to funding we plan to increase the staff in 2017 to eleven staff members.
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Governance and Policy Framework

The internal governance of the organisation is outlined in the Governance Manual and is
further supported by a set of policies and standard operating procedures including:

Standard Operating Procedures Manual

General Policies

1.

[§2]

e, N o

WI Values Statement

WI Statute

WI Governance Manual

Quality Management Practices

WI Board of Directors Conflict of Interest Policy
WI Planning Monitoring and Evaluation System
WI Operational Theory of Change

WI Theory of Change

Confidentiality Form

Financial Policies and Protocols

1.
2.

Financial Policies and Procedures Manual

Reserve Policy - results are annually appropriated to the general reserve and
appropriated reserves are formed if necessary.

Payment Protocol
Procurement Policy

WI Financial Monitoring Policy

Risk Management

1.
2.

Risk Management Framework

Managing Programme Risks

Memorandum of Understanding

WI Approval, Assessment and Reporting Forms

Partner Request & Reporting Forms
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Budget and Finance

e Annual Budget

In 2016, the Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice, implemented our domestic and international
programmes with a budget €757,009. During the 2016 financial year we raised €620,260 through
the generous support of our donors. The difference of €136,749 between our expenditure and
secured resources in 2016 was funded through use of our reserves, after approval by the Board
and in line with our reserves policy.

e Risk Management

We have a robust risk management framework with respect to three key areas - institutional,
financial and programmatic risks. These are reflected in our Risk Management Framework and the
Managing Programme Risks protocol. The key risks identified and assessed by the organisation
include:

Risk 1: Risk of security to field operations and local partners

Risk description: Field operations and local partners are affected due to external and local
insecurity issues. Field staff, [consultants] and local partners are endangered [and harmed]
Risk type: Programmatic

Risk 2: Risk of insufficient funds

Risk description: Reduced funds or insufficient funds to implement our programmes and support
institutional resilience.
Risk type: Financial and Institutional

Risk 3: Risk of loss of credibility

Risk description: Loss of credibility due to insufficient implementation of quality control standards
or compliance challenges with implementing partners
Risk type: Operational and Institutional

Risk 4: The risk of our capacity not matching our mandate

Risk description: Personnel, structure and capacity to fulfil our mandate and related programmes
and strategies
Risk type: Operational and Institutional
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BUDGET 2017

Total
budget €
x 1 EUR 2017
Income
Funds
Wellspring (Anonymous) confirmed 144.897
The Sigrid Rausing Trust confirmed 112.000
FCO confirmed 118.600
Applied
UK DFID/FCO 358.400
Alwaleed Philanthropies - Global 450.000
MacArthur Foundation 148.500
Net Funding 1.331.797
Other Revenue
Interest income
Total Revenue 1.331.797
Expenses
Personnel & Payroll Costs 185.000
Contractors
Total Personnel & Payroll costs 185.000
Institutional Costs
Rent Office The Hague 25.800
Utilities and cleaning 15.600
Audit & Legal Services 16.200
Bank Charges 4.800
Currency Exchange 5.000
Insurance ) 5.500
dubois +co
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Office equipment 12.000
Office Supplies incl stationary 3.500
Office miscellaneous 900

IT support and maintenance 17.000
Telephone 9.600
Courier & Postage 600
Monitoring and Evaluation 8.000
Board Meetings (1/year; teleconf) 15.000
Travel costs 13.200
Total Institutional Costs 152.700
Programme Costs

Uganda

Personnel 25.000
Communication & Transport 5.500
Monitoring Ugandan ICC cases 11.000
ICD - Legal/trial monitoring 8.500
Young Women's Institute 45.337
*follow up with participants 4.000
*economic empowerment training 8.000
*seed grant livelihood programmes 10.0600
Reintegration Programme for former female abductees/child solders 25,000
*reintegration assistance to returnees/children ' 10.000
Transitional justice/reconciliatn advocacy - local & national decision-makers 8.000
Monitoring and Evaluation 6.000
Total 166.337
DRC

Personnel 25.000
Communication 10.500
Monitoring DRC ICC cases 10.608
Advocacy with decision-makers for dom accountability 15.000
Transit House Project:Victims/Survivors assistance 34.581
SGBV Documentation programme- North Kivu, Prov Orientale

- documentation missions dubois + 0
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15.000

- review and analysis 7.620
Women human rights defenders assistance 8.200
Strategic screenings & advocacy events 18.867
Monitoring and Evaluation 5.000
Legal monitoring & representation mobile courts 7.500
Strategic Accountability Project - South Kivu:
*Preparatory Meeting for Training stakeholders 13.476
*Training of the police officers ’ 20.000
*Training of prosecutors 20.000
*Training of judges 27.000
*Project annual review meeting w partners 15.000
Total 253.352
Libya
Personnel 25.000
Communication ' 6.000
Monitoring Libya case before the ICC 3.000
Consultations with WHRDs 32.000
Institutional capacity building 5.000
Advocacy for gender just laws 9.000
SBGV documentation programme 6.038
Monitoring and Evaluation 4.500
Palestine
Personnel 25.000
Communication 8.000
Monitoring ICC investigations 5.500
Information updates - including translation 8.000
Consultations with WHRDs 30.000

dubois #co
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Capacity Building workshop 40,000
Advocacy - meetings w internat decision & policy makers 25.000
Total 232.038
CAR
Monitoring the cases and situation before the ICC 8.151
Total 8,151
Ivory Coast
Monitoring the cases and situation before the ICC 18.000
Total 18.000
Mali
Monitoring the cases and situation before the ICC 5.500
Total 5.500
Strategic Events
Global Agenda- Prevention of Sexual Violence Initiative (PSVI) |.4.000
Legal Advocacy:
Trials -legal monitoring / advocacy 49.491
Consultants 10.000
Communication & website 25.903
Events 17.053
ICC Monitoring/ASP 29.559
Publications:
Publications and printing (Eletters,Gender Report Card and Special Publication on Lubanga) 30.325
Reserves 8.000
Total Programme Costs 857.709
| Total Operating Expenses 1.195.409
Result duboic 4 ~A136388
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Financial Statements 2016

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2016
After rasult appropriation

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible fixed assets
Furniture, fixtures and fittings

Financial fixed assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables
Trade debtors
Accruals and prepaid expenses

Cash at bank and in hand

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
€ € € €
3.116 9.792
8.000 8.000
- 1.359
30.187 8130
30.187 9.489
285.494 466.053
326797 — 493334
dubois +co
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LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Appropriated reserve
General reserve

SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Taxes and social security premiums
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€

97.000
-61,066

35.795
15.309

239.759

€ € €
145.000
2i lb\§5‘3
35.934 172.683
16.458
9.179
295.014
290.863 320.651
- 326797 493334
dubois +¢o
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Statement of activities for the year 2016

Budget
2016 2016 2015

€ € €
Net Funding
Grants 620,260 937.042 720.520

620.260 937,042 720,520
Country Based Programmes -390.476 -403.462 -291.079
Strategic Events and Global Programmes -91.381 -175.574 -141.678
Project result -481.857 -579.036 -432.757

138,403 358.006 287.763
Expenses
Personnel expenses 84.769 189.346 120.586
Depreciation of tangible assets 6.676 12.000 10.878
Housing expenses 24.702 25.800 24.579
Office expenses 40.240 48.860 38.607
General expenses 101.357 60.800 110.778
Total operating expenses 257.744 336.806 305.428
Operating result -119.341 21.200 -17.665
Other interest and similar income 174 - 41.095
Interest and similar expenses -17.582 -13.200 -4.687
Financial income and expense —-17408  -13200_  36.408
Net result -136.749 8.000 18.743
Appropriation of result
General reserve — -136.749 — 18.743

dubois + co
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Cash flow statement for the year 2016

Cash flow from operating activities
Operating result

Adjustments for
Depreciation of tangible assets

Changes in working capital

Trade debtors

Accruals and prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable (excluding banks)

Cash flow from business activities

Interest received
Interest paid

Cash flow from operating activities
Movements cash

Turnover movement cash and cash equivalents

Balance as at beginning of financial year

Movements during financials year
Balance at financial year end

2016 2015
€ € € €
-119.341 -17.665
6.676 10.878
1.359 -
-22.057 14.884
-29.788 -280.507
-50.486 -265.623
-163.151 -272.410
174 41.095
_ -17.582 -4.687
- 550 -236.002
__-180.558 —-236.002
466.053 702.055
-180.559 236,002
_____ 285494 ____ 466.053
dubois + co
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Notes to the financial statements

Entity information

Registered address and registration number trade register
The registered and actual address of Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice is Noordwal 10, 2513 EA in The Hague.
General notes

Description of the most important activities of the entity

The activities of Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice consist mainly of: an international women's human rights
organisation that advocates for gender justice through the International Criminal Court (ICC) and through domestic
mechanisms, including peace negotiations and justice processes.

General accounting principles

Description of the accounting standards used to prepare the financial statements
The financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with RJ 640 Not-for-profit organisations of the Dutch
Accounting Standards Board ('Raad voor de Jaarverslaggeving').

Assets and liabilities are generally valued at historical cost, production cost or at fair value at the time of acquisition. If no
specific valuation principle has been stated, valuation is at historical cost. In the balance sheet and statement of
activities, references are made to the notes.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency translation
The financial statement is presented in Euros, which is the functional and presentation currency of Women's Initiatives
for Gender Justice.

Transactions in foreign currencies are stated in the financial statements at the exchange rate of the functional currency
on the transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted to the closing rate of the functional currency on the
balance sheet date. The translation differences resulting from settlement and conversion are credited or charged to the
statement of activities, unless hedge accounting is applied.

Non-monetary assets valued at historical cost in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate on the
transaction date.

Non-monetary assets valued at fair value in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate on the date on which
the fair value was determined.

Accounting policies for the balance sheet

Property, plant and equipment

Tangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition costs or production costs plus additional costs less straight-line
depreciation based on the expected life, unless stated otherwise. Impairments expected on the balance sheet date are
taken into account.

Subsidies on investments will be deducted from the historical cost price or production cost of the assets to which the
subsidies relate.

Receivables

Receivables are initially valued at the fair value of the consideration to be received. Trade receivables are subsequently
valued at the amortised cost price. If payment of the receivable is postponed under an extended payment deadline, fair
value is measured on the basis of the discounted value of the expected revenues. Interest gains are recognised using
the effective interest method. Provisions for bad debts are deducted from the carrying amount of the receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at banks and in hand represent cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with terms of less than twelve months.
Overdrafts at banks are recognised as part of debts to lending institutions under current liabilities. Cash at banks and in
hand is valued at nominal value.

Current liabilities
On initial recognition current liabilities are recognised at fair value. After initial recognition current liabilities are
recognised at the amortised cost price, being the amount received taking into account premiums or discounts and minus

dubois +co

REGISTERACCOUNTANTS

transaction costs. This is usually the nominal value.

54




Accounting principles for determining the result
The result is the difference between the realisable value of the goods/services provided and the costs and other charges
during the year. The results on transactions are recognised in the year in which they are realised.

Provided subsidies and gifts
Grants are determined on the base of the realisation of program expenses.

Wages and salaries
The benefits payable to personnel are recorded in the statement of activities on the basis of the employment conditions.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of other fixed assets is based on the estimated useful life and calculated as a fixed percentage of cost,
taking into account any residual value, Depreciation is provided from the date an asset comes into use. Book profits and
losses upon disposal of a business asset are included in depreciation.

Other operating expenses
Costs are determined on a historical basis and are attributed to the reporting year to which they relate.

Interest income and related income
Interest income are recognised on a pro rata basis, taking account of the effective interest rate of the assets to which
they relate.

Interest expenses and related expenses

Interest expenses are recognised on a pro rata basis, taking account of the effective interest rate of the liabilities to
which they relate. In accounting for interest expenses, the recognised transaction expenses for loans received are taken
into consideration.

Accounting policies for the cash flow statement

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method.

The funds in the cash flow statement consist of cash and cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents can be considered to be highly liquid investments.

Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated at an estimated average rate. Exchange rate differences concerning
finances are shown separately in the cash flow statement under cash flow from operating activities.

dubois +co

REGISTERACCOUNTANTS

55




Notes to the balance sheet
Assets
Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Total

Tangible fixed assets

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Purchase price

Accumulated depreciation

Book value as at 1 January 2016

Movements

Depreciation
Balance movements

Balance as at 31 December 2016

Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation

Book value as at 31 December 2016

Financial fixed assets
Deposit rent

2016 2015

€ €

3.116 9.792

3.116 9.792

Furniture, fix-
tures and fit-
. tings

86.626
-83.510

— 3116

2016 2015

8.000 8.000

dubois+co
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Financial fixed assets

Deposit rent
€
Balance as at 1 January 2016
Principal value 8.000
Balance as at 1 January 2016 8000
Movements
Balance movements - -
Balance as at 31 December 2016
Principal value — 8000
Balance as at 31 December 2016 8,000
Current assets
2016 2015
€ €
Other receivables and accrued income
Prepaid expenses 10.883 7.711
Interest receivable 174 419
Funding receivable 15.130 -
Receivable staff 4.000 -
30.187 8.130
2016 2015
€ €
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash 526 538
Deutsche Bank current account € 226.336 213.134
Deutsche Bank current account $ 50.412 191.579
ASN bank Deposit - 44158
Bank Account USD Uganda - 8.397
Bank Account USD Cairo - 27
Deutsche Bank Deposit ’ 8.220 8.220
285.494 466.053

All cash balances, besides Deutsche Bank deposit, are freely disposable. The Deutsche Bank deposit is a deposit for
the rent of the office Noordwal 10 in The Hague and will be free after the rent period (June 30th 2021).
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Capital and reserves
Movements in equily were as follows:

Appropriated General Total

reserve reserve

€ € €
Balance as at 1 January 2016 145.000 27.683 172.683
Changes in Appropriated Reserves - 48.000 48.000 .
Appropriation of result - -136.749 -136.749
Balance as at 31 December 2016 97.000 -61.066 35.934

2016 2015

Appropriated reserve
Appropriated reserve 97.000 145.000
Appropriated reserve
Balance as at 1 January 145.000 145.000
Movements -48.000 -
Balance as at 31 December 97.000 145.000
The appropriated reserve is for the benefit of:
The International Gender Justice Dialogue 2013/2014 - 48.000
Continuity reserve 97.000 77.000
Closure costs - 20,000
Total 97.000 145.000

The objective of the appropriated reserve is determined by the Board and can only be spend to that objective.

General reserve

Balance as at 1 January 27.683 8.940
Movements 48.000 -
Appropriation of result -136.749 18.743
Balance as at 31 December -61.066 27.683

Short-term liabilities

2016 2015
€ €
Accounts payable
Trade creditors 35.795 16.458
Taxes and social security premiums
Wage tax and social security 15.309 9.179
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Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Other liabilities 17.454 67.394
Pre-received funding 217.329 227.620
Receivable/payable DRC partners 4.976 ¢

239.759 295.014

The pre-received funding for 2016 of € 217.329 consists of:
- USD 113.333 (€ 99.897) from Anonymous donor on September 29, 2016.
- GBP 100.000 (€ 117.432) from Sigrid Rausing Trust on december 30, 2016.

Off-balance-sheet rights, obligations and arrangements

Rent commitments

Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice has a rental agreement for Noordwal 10, The Hague which ends at 30
June 2021. The remaining obligations amounts to € 152.329 (rent and service costs), the amount payable
within  one year is € 33.851 (including service costs) and after five years €0,

dubois + co

REGISTERACCOUNTANTS

59 initials for{dery in purposes:



Notes to the statement of activities

Net Funding
Grants

Grants

Sigrid Raust Trust Funding

Anonymous Funding

Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs

Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs 2015-2016
UN VaWw

UK/DFID

Australian MFA

Wellspring Advisors

Budget
2016 2016 2015
€ € €
620.260 937.042 720.520
135.080 135.080 124.953
116.819 66.871 152.298
- - 38.493
122.477 163.465 19.806
- - 121.995
245.884 375.289 262.975
- 129.286 -
- 67.051 -
620.260 937.042 720.520

The grants are granted on a year to year basis. Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice has long term relationships

with the grantors.

The grants will be reported on and approved by the grantors in 2017 and 2018.

Country Based Programmes

Democratic Republic of Congo
Uganda

Libya

Sudan

Cote D'lvoire

Central African Republic (CAR)
Mali

Strategic Events and Global Programmes
Strategic Events

Global Programmes
Strategic Events

Global Agenda

Expert Roundtable
Global Programmes
Legal advocacy and trials
Publications and printing
Consultants

Website

Events and Promotions
ICC Monitoring / ASP
Personnel expenses
Wages and salaries

Social security premiums and pensions cost
Other staff expenses

60

214.019 155.876 176.727
125.438 157.114 73.987
19.222 55.554 10.399
- - 1.521
17.877 16.550 15.865
5.183 8.151 10.411
8.737 10.217 2.169
390.476 403.462 291.079
3.969 10.170 25.974
87.412 165.404 115.704
91.381 175.574 141.678
3.969 10.170 19.926
- - 6.048
3.969 10.170 25.974
35.230 53.491 59.072
8.438 28.325 17.375
4.900 5.000 -
8.302 27.903 3.394
3.601 17.053 13.871
26.941 33.632 21.992
87.412 165.404 115.704
40.162 189.346 80.734
23.707 - 20.391
20.900 - 19.461
84.769 189.346 120.586
dubois + co
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Wages and salaries

Gross wages
30% rule foreign employees

Charged to program expenses
Benefits from sick leave insurance

Remuneration of the Board
The Board members are unremunerated.

Average number of employees

Budae

2016 2016 2015
€ € €
245.342 189.346 170.244
- - 31.383
245.342 189.346 201.627
-192.808 ~120.893
-12.372 - -
40.162 189.346 80.734
2016 2015

During 2016 the average number of employees calculated on a full-time equivalent basis was 3,25 (2015: 2,10)

Social security premiums and pensions cost
Social security charges

Other staff expenses

Arbo services

Sick pay insurance

Contractors

Other payroll expenses
Depreciation of tangible assets
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Housing expenses

Rent expenses

Office expenses

Office supplies

Postage expenses

Telephone and fax expenses
Miscellaneous

Office cleaning

Utilities

Insurance

Repair & maintenance

61

23.707 - 20.391
227 - 227
3.378 - 3.120
17.295 - 5.615
- “ 10.499
20.900 - 19.461
6.676 12.000 10.878
24 702 25.800 24 579
3.004 3.000 1.539
103 600 81
4.047 9.600 5.569
880 900 314
3.333 - 3.236
9,257 15.600 9.075
3.453 2.160 1.091
16.163 17.000 17.702
40.240 48.860 38.607
dubois +co
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General expenses

Audit expenses

Qutsourced financial services

Travel expenses

Board expenses (travel)

Monitoring & Evaluation (institutional)
Board meetings (2/years)

Other general expenses

Other interest and similar income
Received bank interest

Currency exchange differences
Currency exchange differences
Exchange differences on cash items
Interest and similar expenses
Other interest expenses

Other interest expenses

Currency exchange differences
Bank charges

The Hague, 31 August 2017

Signed:

Gabrielle Mcintyre
Chair of the Board

40.293 13,200 26.015
35.112 - 31,523
7.569 13,200 11.951
. . 4.471
2.042 14.400 27.141
16.342 20.000 9.676
-1 i 1
101.357 60.800 110.778
Budget
2016 2016 2015
€ € €
174 . 419
- - 40.676
174 - 41.095
. - 40.676
17.582 13.200 4.687
14.522 8.400 i
3.060 4.800 4.687
17.582 13.200 4.687
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REGISTERACCOUNTANT‘S

Amsterdam,

UG 2017

& initials for ifentificat N pUrposes;



OTHER INFORMATION

Statutory provision regarding appropriation of result
The constitution does not contain articles regarding appropriation of the balance of income and expenses.

Proposal appropriation of result

The loss for the year 2016 in the amount of € 136.749 is deducted from the reserves, prior to the decision of the board.
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Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To: the Board of Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice.

A. Report on the audit of the financial statements 2016 included in the
annual report

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2016 of Women's Initiatives for Gender
Justice based in Den Haag.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice as at 31
December 2016 and of its result for 2016 in accordance with the Guidelines for
annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit organizations” of the Dutch Accounting
Standards Board.

The financial statements comprise:

1. the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;

2. the profit and loss account for 2016; and

3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the '‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’
section of our report.

We are independent of Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice in accordance with
the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-
opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with
respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the
Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en
beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Cranje Nassaulaan 1
1075 AH Arnsterdam
Postbus 53028

1007 RA Amsterdam

Telefoon 020 57123 45
E-mail info@dubors.ni
vvey.dubois.nl

K numimer 24374865

Dubiois & Co. Regiskeraccouriants is een maaischap van prakiijvannontschaposen, Op alle opdrachien die aan ons kantuor worden verstrekt ziji onze
9 | I

Flgemeny vioorugarden van ingpassing. Deze voorwaarden, waacvar de tekst s opgenomen of de websile www.dubois i, bevalter een sansprakeljkheldsbeperking
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B. Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of the management board's report.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information is consistent with the
financial statements and does not contain material misstatements.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains
material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of
the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the
financial statements. Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
management board’s report, in accordance with the Guidelines for annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit
organizations” of the Dutch Accounting Standards Board.

C. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements

"The Board' is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, in
accordance with the Guidelines for annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit organizations” of the Dutch
Accounting Standards Board. Furthermore, the Board is responsible for such internal control as the Board
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, the Board
should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the
evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
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We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence
requirements.

Our audit included e.g.:

e identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control;

» evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board;

e concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting, and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going
concern;

e evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures; and

e evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Amsterdam, 31% of August 2017 Dubois & Cd. Registeraccou ts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To: the Board of Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice.

A. Report on the audit of the financial statements 2016 included in the
annual report

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2016 of Women's Initiatives for Gender
Justice based in Den Haag.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of Women'’s Initiatives for Gender Justice as at 31
December 2016 and of its result for 2016 in accordance with the Guidelines for
annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit organizations” of the Dutch Accounting
Standards Board.

Oranje Nassaulaan 1
1075 AH Amsterdarn
Postbus 53028

1007 RA Amsterdam

The financial statements comprise: Telefoon 020 571 23 45
1. the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016; E-rnail info@dubois.nl
2. the profit and loss account for 2016 and vevsw. dubois.l

3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other KUK numimer 34,374,865

explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’
section of our report.

We are independent of Women's Initiatives for Gender Justice in accordance with
the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-
opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with
respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the
Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en
beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Dubois & Co. Registeracceuntsnts is eert mastschap van graktifivenhootschappen. Op ails Gpdrachten dié aar nns kantoGr worden varsirakt Zijy dnze

dlgemene vorrwasiden van foepassing. Deze voorwaarden, waanan de tekst s opgenormen op de wehsile wivw.dubois o, bevatien een agnyprakielikheidsbepsrking
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B. Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of the management board's report.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information is consistent with the
financial statements and does not contain material misstatements.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains
material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of
the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the
financial statements. Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
management board's report, in accordance with the Guidelines for annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit
organizations” of the Dutch Accounting Standards Board.

C. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements

"The Board' is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, in
accordance with the Guidelines for annual reporting 640 “Not-for-profit organizations” of the Dutch
Accounting Standards Board. Furthermore, the Board is responsible for such internal control as the Board
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, the Board
should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the
evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
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We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence
requirements.

Our audit included e.g.:

o identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control;

» evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board;

e concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting, and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going
concern;

e evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures; and

¢ evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Amsterdam, 313! of August 2017 Dubois & Co. Registeraccountants

Signed on original by:
A.P. Buteijn RA






